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I.
CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT: SIXTH AMENDMENT 
The Sixth Amendment provides that in all criminal prosecutions, "the accused shall enjoy the right to a speedy and public trial." U.S. Const. amend. VI. Likewise, the Arizona Constitution provides that in criminal prosecutions, "the accused shall have the right . . .  to have a speedy public trial. Ariz. Const. art. 2, § 24. The constitutional guarantee to a speedy trial protects a defendant's right to be brought to trial without undue delay. There is no bright line rule for how quickly a trial must occur. In evaluating such claims, courts weigh (1) the length of the delay, (2) the reason for the delay, (3) the defendant's assertion of the right to a speedy trial, and (4) the prejudice to the defendant. Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514, 530 (1972); State v. Miller, 234 Ariz. 31, 37, ¶ 8 (2013); State v. Parker, 231 Ariz. 391, 398, ¶ 9 (2013); State v. Spreitz, 190 Ariz. 129, 139 (1997); State v. Wassenaar, 215 Ariz. 565, 571, ¶ 18 (App.  2007). 

Although the first factor, length of delay, carries the least weight, it triggers the full speedy trial or Barker analysis, requiring consideration of all four factors. State v. Miller, 234 Ariz. 31, 37, ¶ 8 (2013)(trial 5 years after indictment was sufficient delay to require the full Barker analysis); State v. Parker, 231 Ariz. 391, 398 ¶ 9 (2013)(3-year and 9-month delay between arrest and trial was presumptively prejudicial, triggering full Sixth Amendment speedy trial analysis). This factor, however, must be considered in concert with the remaining three Barker factors. State v. Spreitz, 190 Ariz. 129, 140 (1997)(defendant may contest the admissibility of scientific evidence but may not then later complain of speedy trial violation due to delays occasioned by the contest; further, a long period of custody might increase a defendant's anxiety quotient but does not prejudice his ability to defend his case). Any pretrial delay stretching into a period of years is of great concern; the duty to move criminal cases through the courts is a responsibility shared by the prosecution, the defense, and the courts. However, defendants can make intelligent decisions to waive speedy trial time limits and in certain circumstances there are sound tactical reasons to do so. Id. See also State v. Parker, 231 Ariz. 391, 398-399, ¶¶ 9-13 (2013)(3 years, 9 months delay did not prejudice defendant where he failed to show any prejudice other than pretrial incarceration); State v. Wassenaar, 215 Ariz. 565, 572, ¶ 19 (App. 2007)(assuming trial was improperly delayed, defendant not prejudiced where he never argued delay caused prolonged confinement, he was unable to locate evidence or witnesses, he lost opportunity to present any evidence or testimony, or otherwise could not present his entire defense). 
The second Barker factor requires an assessment of who should bear the responsibility for the delay. Any delay caused by the defense weighs against the defendant. State v. Miller, 234 Ariz. 31, 37, ¶¶ 9-10 (2013)(delay of 4.5 months caused by defendant's vacillation on whether to represent himself and whether to plead guilty, as well as by competency proceedings did not weigh heavily against defendant absent any indication he delayed case unnecessarily; however, delay of 2 years, 9 months resulting from defense counsel's failure to prepare case, removal of lead counsel, and appointment new counsel 2.5 months later, and additional 11 months delay to allow new lead counsel time to prepare for trial, was not chargeable to State, since there was no systematic breakdown in indigent defense system, and counsel's personal issues were unknown to State and trial court); State v. Parker, 231 Ariz. 391, 398, ¶ 10 (2013)(10-month delay in the course of a 2-year, 9 month period between arrest and trial due to retirement of defendant's lead attorney was not attributable to the State), citing Vermont v. Brillon, 556 U.S. 81 (2009) (analyzing whether the government or the criminal defendant is more to blame for the delay). 
If the Government can show that the delay was wholly justifiable because it proceeded with reasonable diligence, the defendant's speedy trial claim generally cannot succeed in the absence of a showing of actual prejudice resulting from the delay. Doggett v. United States, 505 U.S. 647, 656 (1992). Id. at 656–57. "Between diligent prosecution and bad-faith delay, official negligence in bringing an accused to trial occupies the middle ground. While not compelling relief in every case where bad-faith delay would make relief virtually automatic, neither is negligence automatically tolerable simply because the accused cannot demonstrate exactly how it has prejudiced him." Id. (delay of 8.5 years between indictment and arrest, which delay was caused by government's negligence, violated defendant's speedy trial rights, even though defendant could not demonstrate exactly how delay prejudiced him). See also United States v. Loud Hawk, 474 U.S. 302, 316 (1986)(delay attributable to Government's interlocutory appeals did not count toward speedy trial claims; while 90-month delay was prejudicial, other factors failed to support violation of speedy trial clause where there was no showing of bad faith or dilatory purpose on the Government's part, the Government's position in each of the appeals was strong, and the reversals by the Court of Appeals were prima facie evidence of the reasonableness of the Government's action); United States v. Alexander, 817 F.3d 1178, 1182 (9th Cir. 2016)(reason for delay weighed against defendant's speedy trial challenge where government pursued extradition with reasonable diligence but Canada was not consistent in its questions to government and such delay was typical of Canadian extradition requests).
The third Barker factor is whether the defendant asserted the speedy trial right. A 
Defendant's delay in asserting his rights until nearly 3 years after his arrest weighs against him, and he clearly consents to such delay. State v. Parker, 231 Ariz. 391, 399, ¶ 15 (2013); cf State v. Miller, 234 Ariz. 31, 37, ¶ 11 (2013)(defendant's failure to assert speedy trial right did not weigh heavily against him, given different weight attached to situation in which defendant knowingly failed to object from situation in which his attorney acquiesced in long delay without adequately informing his client); see also State v. Henry, 176 Ariz. 569, 579 (1993)(14-month delay in asserting right weighed against defendant); State v. Schaaf, 169 Ariz. 323, 327 (1991)(speedy trial violation “is waived unless asserted promptly”).
 The fourth and most important Barker factor is prejudice to the defendant.  To assess prejudice, the courts consider the interests the speedy trial right protects: (1) preventing oppressive pretrial incarceration, (2) minimizing anxiety and concern of the accused, and (3) limiting the possibility that the defense will be impaired. State v. Miller, 234 Ariz. 31, 37, ¶¶ 12-13 (2013)(extended incarceration resulting from delay in processing case did not prejudice defendant's speedy trial rights since defendant would have been incarcerated entire time as result of arson charges; moreover, defendant expressed lack of concern about delay, remarking he was “going to get convicted” anyway). Of these forms of prejudice, the most serious is the last, because the inability of a defendant adequately to prepare his case skews the fairness of the entire system. State v. Parker, 231 Ariz. 391, 399, ¶ 16, (2013). 

Note, there are significant differences between criminal prosecutions and civil SVP proceedings that justify differing standards for evaluating prejudice. In the SVP context, a lengthy improper delay in providing a trial on an SVP petition can, standing alone, support a finding of prejudice. Fuller v. Olson ex rel. County of Pinal, 233 Ariz. 468, 473, ¶¶ 11-14  (2013)(SVP detained in ASH while awaiting trial on the SVP petition for over 20 months, during which time he did not receive treatment that would have been provided had he been determined to be a SVP at trial, and during which time he would have been entitled to annual review of his progress that may have resulted in his conditional release to a less restrictive environment, was prejudiced by trial court's failure to conduct a trial within the statutorily mandated 120-day period, thus warranting release from custody and dismissal of SVP petition). 

The guarantee of a speedy trial found in the Sixth amendment and Ariz. Const. art. 2, § 24 applies through sentencing. The framework for analyzing the delay between conviction and sentencing is the four-part test articulated in Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514, 530 (1972). State v. Burkett, 179 Ariz. 109, 114 (App. 1993)(delay of 23 months between defendant's request for sentencing while he was incarcerated in New York and his extradition was long enough to trigger constitutional speedy trial inquiry). However, constitutional speedy trial protections apply only to delay caused by the State, not delay attributable to the defendant. Id. at 115.
A.
Speedy Trial v. Pre-indictment Delay

The constitutional right of the accused to a speedy trial has no application beyond the confines of a formal criminal prosecution. Doggett v. United States, 505 U.S. 647, 655 (1992). That is, the speedy trial guarantee of the Sixth Amendment does not apply to the period before a defendant is arrested, indicted, or otherwise officially accused. United States v. MacDonald, 456 U.S. 1, 6 (1982); United States v. Marion, 404 U.S. 307, 313 (1971). 
Similarly, the Sixth Amendment is not implicated if the government dismisses charges in good faith and later refiles them, as long as a defendant has not been subjected to actual restraints on his liberty after dismissal. United States v. Loud Hawk, 474 U.S. 302, 310-11 (1986); United States v. MacDonald, 456 U.S. 1, 6-8 (1982); State v. Dunlap, 187 Ariz. 441, 449–50 (App. 1996). The Court in McDonald explained: 
Once charges are dismissed, the speedy trial guarantee is no longer applicable. At that point, the formerly accused is, at most, in the same position as any other subject of a criminal investigation. Certainly, the knowledge of an ongoing criminal investigation will cause stress, discomfort, and perhaps a certain disruption in normal life. This is true whether or not charges have been filed and then dismissed.
MacDonald, 456 U.S. at 8-9. 
The time limits for purposes of the right to a speedy trial begin to run anew when a grand jury re-indicts a defendant following the dismissal of an earlier action against the defendant. United States v. Loud Hawk, 474 U.S. 302, 310–11 (1986); see also State v. Dunlap, 187 Ariz. 441, 449–50 (App.1996)(Sixth Amendment does not apply “[i]f a defendant is not under arrest and no indictment or charge is outstanding,” or “if the government dismisses charges in good faith and later refiles them, as long as a defendant has not been subjected to actual restraints on his liberty after dismissal.”).
A defendant who is held in custody for an unreasonable period without being charged may have a claim for a violation of his constitutional rights. If, however, he is arrested and released without charge soon thereafter, the right to a speedy trial does not attach because no charge is outstanding. State v. Medina, 190 Ariz. 418, 421, (App. 1997). 
The Due Process Clauses of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments prevent the State from bringing criminal charges against a person when it has unreasonably delayed doing so. State v. Lacy, 187 Ariz. 340, 346 (1996); accord United States v. Lovasco, 431 U.S. 783, 789, 790 (1977); United States v. Marion, 404 U.S. 307, 324-25 (1971). 
· [See AZ Brief Revised, Pre-indictment Delay]
II.
PROCEDURAL RIGHT: RULE 8


Rule 8, Ariz. R. Crim. P, grants stricter speedy trial rights than those provided by the United States Constitution. State v. Spreitz, 190 Ariz. 129, 136 (1997). The Rule 8 speedy trial right is more restrictive of the State than the Sixth Amendment and does not require the analysis set forth in Barker v. Wingo; in fact, the unspecified length of delay necessary to a Sixth Amendment violation under Barker is superseded in Arizona by the narrowly drawn time limits enumerated in Rule 8.2. But the prongs of the Barker analysis are helpful guidelines in deciding whether a dismissal on speedy trial grounds should be with or without prejudice. State v. Tucker, 133 Ariz. 304, 308 (1982). If the court finds a violation of Rule 8, it is required to order the case dismissed, pursuant to Rule 8.6, without reaching the constitutional claim. State v. Olson, 146 Ariz. 336, 338 (App. 1985). 

The Rule 8 right to a speedy trial is not fundamental but a procedural right, and not a shield by which the accused may avoid trial and possible punishment by taking advantage of loopholes in the law or arithmetic errors. State v. Spreitz, 190 Ariz. 129, 139 (1997)(although time span between arraignment and trial was unprecedented, defendant waived right under Rule 8 by not objecting to denial of speedy trial when violation was occurring). 
A trial court's ruling regarding Rule 8 will be upheld unless a defendant shows both an abuse of discretion and prejudice. Whether a trial court abused its discretion and prejudice resulted depends upon the facts of each case. In order to establish prejudice when a speedy trial violation occurs, the defendant must establish that his defense was harmed by the delay. A defendant who fails to establish that his defense was prejudiced or that he was deprived of a fair trial has not established prejudice sufficient to warrant reversal of his conviction. State v. Wassenaar, 215 Ariz. 565, 571, ¶ 16 (App. 2007); State v. Vasko, 193 Ariz. 142, 147, ¶ 22 (App. 1998). 
A. 
Rule 8.1 Priorities in Scheduling Cases.
Rule 8.1(a), Priority of Criminal Trials: The trial of criminal cases shall have priority over the trial of civil cases. 
· But note, under Rule 7, Rules of Procedure for the Juvenile Court, "Juvenile proceedings shall have priority over all other state court proceedings." See also Rule 2.2(b)(1),(6), Local Rules of Practice Superior Court, Maricopa (upon being advised of a scheduling conflict, judge shall resolve conflict by considering, among other factors, the nature of the case and any priority granted by rule or statute). 

Rule 8.1(b), Preferences: The trial of defendants in custody and defendants whose pretrial liberty may present unusual risks shall be given preference over other criminal cases. 
· COMMENT: Rule 8.1(b) gives special priority to two classes of criminal cases: (1) those involving defendants who are held in custody awaiting trial, and (2) defendants whose pretrial liberty presents unusual risks. Under Ariz. Const. Art. 2, § 22, A.R.S. § 13-3967 and Rule 7.2, the pretrial release of a defendant is based upon the probability of his appearance at trial unless he commits a subsequent crime. This rule provides the community with the protection of a speedy trial for those who constitute a threat to the public, to witnesses, to evidence, or anything else connected with the forthcoming trial. 
Rule 8.1(c), Duty of Prosecutor: The prosecutor shall advise the court of facts relevant to determining the order of cases on the calendar.
· COMMENT: Rule 8.1(c) is an explicit directive to the prosecutor to provide the court (or whichever of its agents is responsible for docketing cases) with appropriate information to determine the order of cases for the calendar. This section should not be construed as an invitation to courts and court administrators to defer the duty of calendaring cases to the prosecutor; rather, the rule requires the prosecutor to transmit information – especially facts relevant to the defendant's dangerousness to the community – to the court. 
Rule 8.1(d): Duty of Defense Counsel: The defendant's counsel must advise the court of the impending expiration of time limits in the defendant's case. Failure to do so may result in sanctions and should be considered by the court in determining whether to dismiss an action with prejudice pursuant to Rule 8.6.
· COMMENT: Rule 8.1(d) was added in light of State ex rel. Berger v. Superior Court, 111 Ariz. 335, 341 (1975) to equalize the burden of speedy trial compliance between the defense and the prosecution.
Rule 8.1(d) requires defense counsel to advise the court of the impending expiration of time limits, and failure to do so may result in sanctions. Thus, a defendant may waive speedy trial rights by not objecting to the denial of speedy trial in a timely manner. Once a defendant has let a Rule 8 speedy trial time limit pass without objection, he cannot later claim a violation that requires reversal. Arizona decisions regarding a defendant's duty to assert speedy trial rights are predicated in large part on the concern that defendants may wait until after the time limit under Rule 8.2 has expired and then claim a Rule 8 violation after it is too late for the trial court to prevent the violation. State v. Spreitz, 190 Ariz. 129, 138 (1997). “The purpose of Rule 8.6 is to afford a defendant relief from a speedy trial violation before his untimely trial.” State v. Vasko, 193 Ariz. 142, 148, ¶ 25 (App. 1998)(emphasis in original). 
Where failure to advise the court of impending expiration of time limits is intentional, the only appropriate sanction may be to consider the time during which such conduct has occurred as excluded, thus resulting in a denial of a motion to dismiss. The provision of Rule 8.1(d) that the court may consider counsel's failure to advise in determining whether to dismiss with prejudice is meaningless where the statute of limitations may have expired. Permitting such a sanction, i.e., no dismissal, comports with the statement that “[i]t is not the purpose of the speedy trial provision to enable the guilty to go free on technicalities.” State v. Techy, 135 Ariz. 81, 85 (App. 1982), quoting State ex rel. Berger v. Superior Court, 111 Ariz. 335, 340 (1975). See also State v. Guerrero, 159 Ariz. 568, 570-71 (1989)(defendant cannot allow limit to pass without objection, allow the trial to continue to verdict and sentence, and then, for the first time, raise the speedy trial issue and claim the need for reversal.) However, the court of appeals was reluctant to extend this rationale to a case where at arraignment the State, along with the court and the defendant, set a trial date past Rule 8 limits; such an extension would, in effect, condone a trial postponement by stipulation. State v. Thurman, 134 Ariz. 465, 466-67 (App.1982). 
There are circumstances in which the defense's duty to notify does not attach. When there is an intervening event under Rule 8.4 (excluded periods) that causes delay, defense counsel has a duty to assert defendant's speedy trial right. Aguilar v. Superior Court, 144 Ariz. 504, 507 (App.1985)(appeals were intervening delays triggering Rule 8.1(d) notice obligations). See also Spreitz, 190 Ariz. at 138-39 (1997)(expressly waiving speedy trial right on numerous occasions); State v. Swensrud, 168 Ariz. 21, 22-23 (1991)(seeking continuances during the 150-day period on at least three separate occasions); State v. Vasko, 193 Ariz. 142, 148, ¶ 25 (App.1998)(moving twice for continuances during the Rule 8 period). However, when there is no intervening delay, the duty may not arise at all. State v. Tucker, 133 Ariz. 304, 308, n.5 (1982); Aguilar v. Superior Court, 144 Ariz. 504, 507 (App.1985). 
In Tucker, the Arizona Supreme Court opined in a footnote that defense counsel has no duty to notify the court of the impending speedy trial violations when there are no intervening delays. "If nothing interferes with the running of the Rule 8.2 period, the accused should not need to visit the courthouse every so often to remind the court to check the countdown."  133 Ariz. at 308, n. 5. In Aguilar, the court stated of Tucker: "Although arguably dicta in the case, we believe this language authoritatively sets forth the supreme court's view that Rule 8.1(d) does not apply to cases 'when there are no intervening delays between the event that triggers Rule 8.2 and the expiration of the Rule 8.2 time limit....'" 144 Ariz. at 507. Further, defense counsel's failure to comply with the obligation to apprise the trial court of impending expiration of speedy trial times does not automatically establish that there was no speedy trial violation; rather, delay resulting from counsel's failure to notify court can be excluded from time period. Id. These cases have been cited in recent memorandum decisions. 
Rule 8.1(e), Extraordinary Cases: This rule allows suspension of Rule 8 in extraordinary cases. Within 25 days after the arraignment, either party may apply in writing to the court for a hearing to establish extraordinary circumstances requiring the suspension of Rule 8 in a particular case. Within 5 days of the receipt of the application, the court must hold the hearing and make findings of fact. The findings must be immediately transmitted to the Chief Justice who may approve or decline to approve them. Upon approval of the findings by the Chief Justice, they must be returned to the trial court where upon motion of either party the trial court may suspend the provisions of Rule 8 and reset the trial date for a time certain.
· COMMENT: Rule 8.1(e) is intended to provide for unusually complicated cases or those cases in which there are an unusually large number of witnesses and/or exhibits making trial preparation cumbersome and lengthy for both parties. The 25-day time period under this section is not intended to be an excludable time period under Rule 8.4.
Where the trial court suspended Rule 8 but failed to set a time certain for trial at the omnibus hearing, in light of an 8-month period during which the trial court received motions and responses on a daily basis and held two or three hearings per month, any error was at most only technical error that was in no way prejudicial to the defendant and thus not grounds for reversal. State v. Agnew, 132 Ariz. 567, 580-81 (App. 1982). See also State v. Harding, 141 Ariz. 492, 495 (1984)(granting State's untimely motion to suspend Rule 8 time limits, although technically a violation of Rule 8, did not require reversal of conviction where no prejudice from error was shown).
Even where a defendant does not join with codefendants in a motion to declare the case extraordinary, the defendant is bound by the suspension of the Rule 8 time limits. The delay occasioned by or on the behalf of any defendant is attributable to his codefendants in determining whether speedy trial time limits have been violated; thus the delay resulting from the suspension of the time limits of Rule 8, upon the motion of his codefendants, is attributable to the defendant. State v. Farmer, 126 Ariz. 569, 571 (1980). See also Rule 8.4(f), Ariz. R. Crim. P. (time must be excluded for “[d]elays resulting from joinder for trial with another defendant as to whom the time limits have not run where there is good cause for denying severance”); State v. Hankins, 141 Ariz. 217, 222 (1984)(requiring Rule 8 calculation for multiple defendants consolidated for trial from the case with the longest time available).
B. 
Rule 8.2 Time limits

Rule 8.2(a), General: Subject to the provisions of Rule 8.4 (excluded time periods), every person against whom an indictment, information or complaint is filed must be tried within the following time periods:

(1) Defendants in Custody: 150 days from arraignment, except in a complex case. 
(2) Defendants Released from Custody: 180 days from arraignment, except in a complex case.  
(3). Complex Cases: One year from arraignment for cases in which the indictment, information or complaint is filed between December 1, 2002 and December 1, 2005, and for subsequent cases 270 days from arraignment if the person is charged with any of the following:
(i) 1st Degree Murder, except as provided in capital cases. 
(ii) Wiretap cases.
(iii) Complex cases as determined by a written factual finding by the court.
· 2002 COMMITTEE COMMENT: Subsection (3)(complex cases) was added because certain cases will be more complex than others and the usual time limits should be extended. In addition to homicide and wiretap cases, such cases may include those involving DNA or complex scientific evidence, complicated fraud cases, or certain sex cases. Although one year, or after December 1, 2005, 270 days, is established as the outside time limit, the Court may consider a lesser period of time if appropriate. This subsection does not preclude application to the Supreme Court for suspension of the rules pursuant to Rule 8.5.
· A “complex case” is a case so complicated by virtue of its nature or because of the evidence required, that ordinary limits for the time to trial are insufficient and must be extended to afford more time to prepare so that the case can be fairly and fully presented. Snyder v. Donato, 211 Ariz. 117, 120, ¶ 12 (App. 2005). A matter is complex if it is composed of interconnected or interwoven parts or involved or intricate, as in structure. By referring to both types of cases (homicide and fraud) and types of evidence (wiretap and DNA), the comment to Rule 8.2(a)(3) suggests the nature of the qualifying complexity. Id. at  120, ¶ 13. The mere fact that scientific evidence may be involved in a case does not automatically render it complex; not all scientific evidence is so time-consuming to prepare or present that delay is necessary. Id. at 122, ¶ 22. The mere presence of DNA evidence does not make a case complex. Id. at 123, ¶ 23  
(4). Capital Cases: 24 months from the date the state files a notice of intent to seek the death penalty pursuant to Rule 15.1(i).
Rule 8.2(b), Waiver of Appearance at Arraignment: If a person has waived an appearance at arraignment pursuant to Rule 14.2, the date of the arraignment held without the defendant's presence must be considered the arraignment date for purposes of subsection (a), paragraphs (1), (2), (3), and (4) of this rule. 
· COMMENT: A person who is held in custody must be tried within 120 days of his initial appearance before the magistrate on the complaint. The time starts running from the date of the initial appearance, which should be no more than one day after arrest. If the magistrate refuses to hold the defendant to answer at the preliminary hearing and dismisses the complaint, but later a similar complaint is refiled after the discovery of new evidence, the time limit runs from the initial appearance on the second complaint. This is in accordance with the ABA, Standards, at § 2.2. However, dismissal of a complaint by the prosecutor solely to avoid the running of the time limit is prohibited by Rule 16.6. A dismissal of the complaint occasioned by the prosecutor's failure to file an indictment or information within 5 days after the grand jury or magistrate's finding does not toll the time. See Rule 13.1(c)("An information shall be filed in Superior Court within 10 days after the determination of probable cause or the defendant's waiver of a preliminary hearing. Failure to file a timely information shall be grounds for dismissal of the prosecution on motion of the defendant under Rule 16.1(b). Such dismissal shall be without prejudice except that if the prosecution is refiled, the time limits under Rule 8.2 shall be computed from the initial appearance on the original complaint.") Rule 8.2 retains the rule that the defendant need not demand a trial as a condition precedent to a motion to dismiss after the expiration of the limit. Though the minority rule in the United States, it has long been the rule in Arizona, Rojas v. Superior Court of Maricopa County, 100 Ariz. 364 (1966), and is explicitly approved in the ABA, Standards, at § 2.2. 
· See also State v. Tucker, 133 Ariz. 304, 308, n.5 (1982); Aguilar v. Superior Court, 144 Ariz. 504, 507 (App. 1985).
Rule 8.2(c), New Trial: A trial ordered after a mistrial or upon a motion for a new trial must commence within 60 days of the entry of the order of the court. A trial ordered upon the reversal of a judgment by an appellate court shall commence within 90 days of the service of the mandate of the Appellate Court.
· COMMENT: Since the demands of trial preparation will generally be minimal in such cases, section (c) establishes a 60-day limit for new trials taking place after a mistrial, a successful motion for a new trial, or an appellate court reversal.
Rule 8.2(d), Extension of Time Limits: These time limits may be extended pursuant to Rule 8.5. 
· COMMENT: These time limits may be extended by the continuance procedure described in Rule 8.5, although there are some types of delay which are to be excluded from the computation of time under Rule 8.4.

Rule 8.2(e), Trial Dates: In all superior court cases except those in which Rule 8 has been suspended pursuant to Rule 8.1(e), the court must, either at the time of arraignment in superior court or at a pretrial conference, set a trial date for a time certain.
1.
When Right to Speedy Trial Attaches

A person's Sixth Amendment right to a speedy trial does not attach until an indictment has been returned or a complaint has been filed and a magistrate has found that probable cause exists to hold the person to answer before the superior court. This is well established law in Arizona. State v. Medina, 190 Ariz. 418, 420 (App. 1997). "Our courts have consistently held that speedy trial rights do not attach under either our constitution or under the procedural rules enacted to implement the constitutional provisions until a prosecution is commenced or a defendant is held to answer." State v. Lemming, 188 Ariz. 459, 461 (App. 1997). The 150-day period in Rule 8.2(a) begins not merely when an indictment is issued, but when the defendant is arrested or surrendered. Rule 8.2, Ariz. R. Crim. P., "plainly states that a defendant must be tried within 150 days of the arrest or service of summons." State v. Acinelli, 191 Ariz. 66, 69 (App. 1997). 

2.
State's Motion to Dismiss

Rule 8.2(a) requires that defendants be tried within a certain number of days from arraignment, and Rule 16.6(a) permits a court to dismiss charges on the State's motion only “upon finding that the purpose of the dismissal is not to avoid the provisions of Rule 8.” Any challenge to the trial court's determination that the prosecutor did not seek dismissal to avoid Rule 8 but because of difficulties in locating and securing the presence of a witness at trial must be raised through a motion for reconsideration or petition for special action in the instant case, not a motion to dismiss in the subsequently refiled case; the court of appeals lacks jurisdiction to review the propriety of the earlier dismissal. State v. Henry, 224 Ariz. 164, 173, ¶ 30 (App. 2010). See also Earl v. Garcia ex rel. County of Maricopa, 234 Ariz. 577, 579, ¶¶ 9-11 (App. 2014)(defendant, against whom state dismissed without prejudice an indictment for theft of new car worth over $25,000 after learning facts at settlement conference that undercut its theory of the case, could not wait until a subsequent prosecution for that offense, based on a second grand jury indictment obtained on a different theory of theft, to argue that state voluntarily dismissed first charge to avoid complying with rule requiring that defendant be tried within a specified time period);  State v. Paris-Sheldon, 214 Ariz. 500, 508, ¶ 23 (App. 2007)(filing a motion to dismiss in the second case was not the correct method by which to challenge the grant of the state's motion to dismiss without prejudice in the first case). 
In the context of speedy trial violations, courts have concluded that the interests of justice require dismissal with prejudice only when the prosecutor has delayed in order to obtain a tactical advantage or harass the defendant and the defendant has demonstrated resulting prejudice. State v. Huffman, 222 Ariz. 416, 420, ¶ 11 (App. 2009), citing: State v. Wills, 177 Ariz. 592, 594 (App.1993)(mere passage of arbitrary time limit is not sufficient to warrant dismissal of indictment with prejudice; reasoned finding must be made that interests of justice require dismissal to be with prejudice); State v. Granados, 172 Ariz. 405, 407 (App.1991)(dismissal with prejudice of sex crimes not warranted on grounds that defendant was not in country and there would be delay before charges could be refiled, or that victim partially recanted accusation and seemed uninterested in pursuing prosecution); State v. Gilbert, 172 Ariz. 402, 40 (App.1991)(absent evidence the State acted in bad faith or to harass the defendant in twice moving to dismiss prosecution shortly before trial, the interests of justice did not require dismissal with prejudice where only prejudice was annoyance, inconvenience, and continued incarceration in county jail under conditions less favorable than those defendant would have experienced had probation been revoked so she could be transferred to DOC).  See also Rule 8.6, Denial of Speedy Trial, infra. 

3.
Refiling after Dismissal without Prejudice

The speedy trial clock begins anew when a case is dismissed without prejudice and a new charging document is filed. State v. Mendoza, 170 Ariz. 184, 187 (1992). When a case is dismissed without prejudice, the State's filing of a new indictment generally begins a separate matter. Time limits under the rules begin anew for the separate matter absent a showing of bad faith on the part of the prosecution or prejudice to the accused. Mesa v. Hon. Granville, 2016 WL 7387134, ¶ 11 (Ariz. Dec. 21, 2016), citing Godoy v. Hantman, 205 Ariz. 104, 105 ¶ 1 (2003); State v. Rose, 121 Ariz. 131, 137 (1978). Rule 8 is not a “statute of limitations” within which the state must bring an action against a defendant, but merely a limitation on when a trial must be held after that action is brought. State v. Lemming, 188 Ariz. 459, 461-62 (App. 1997). But when a case is suspended under Rule 38.1, it remains pending, and speedy-trial time limits likewise must be suspended to allow the defendant to complete the program contemplated by the diversion, which may take up to two years. Brewer v. Rees ex rel. County of Maricopa, 228 Ariz. 254, 257, ¶ 8 (App. 2011).
C. 
Rule 8.3 Persons in Prison Within or Without the State

Rule 8.3(a): Persons Without the state: Within 90 days after receipt of a written request from any person charged with a crime and incarcerated without the state, or within a reasonable time after otherwise learning of such person's incarceration without the state, the prosecutor must take action as required by law to obtain such person's presence for trial. Within 90 days after the defendant has been delivered into the temporary custody of the appropriate authority of this state, he or she must be brought to trial. 
· COMMENT: Section (a), which deals with the case of persons imprisoned out of state, is intended primarily to supplement the provisions of the Interstate Agreement on Detainers, of which Arizona is a member, along with at least 22 other states and the federal government. § 31-481 (Supp.1972). This rule requires the county attorney to take the action required by law to obtain the prisoner for trial. In the case of those states which are parties to the Agreement, this creates no problem. In non-Agreement states, the procedures may be somewhat more complicated, but should be initiated as quickly as possible. The rule requires the county attorney to commence action within 90 days after a request for action from the imprisoned person, or within a reasonable time after learning of the facts himself. Once the county attorney is on notice of the prisoner's incarceration in another jurisdiction, he may be constitutionally obligated to make a diligent good faith effort to obtain his presence for trial. See e.g., Smith v. Hooey, 89 S.Ct. 575, 393 U.S. 374, 21 L.Ed.2d 607 (1969). Once within the jurisdiction, the defendant must be tried within 90 days. Violation of one of these time limits is ground for dismissal of the charges with prejudice under Rule 8.6.
The time limits of Rule 8.3(a) do not apply to periods of pretrial detention outside Arizona. The 90-day time period does not begin to run until the defendant begins to serve the sentence imposed for the out-of-state conviction. State v. Olson, 146 Ariz. 336, 338-39 (App. 1985).
Rule 8.3 is intended to supplement the Interstate Agreement on Detainers (IAD) and thus, like the IAD itself, does not apply to a request for sentencing. State v. Burkett, 179 Ariz. 109, 114 (App. 1993). However, the constitutional guarantees to a speedy trial apply through sentencing. A delay of 23 months between defendant's request for sentencing while he was incarcerated in New York and his extradition is long enough to trigger constitutional speedy trial inquiry pursuant to Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514, 530 (1972). Even where part of the delay between conviction and sentencing is attributable to defendant's own actions in becoming a fugitive, any delay caused by the State after Arizona authorities knew he was incarcerated in New York and was requesting in absentia sentencing in Arizona was cognizable for constitutional speedy trial purposes. Burkett, 179 Ariz. at 114-115.  
Even though the Interstate Agreement on Detainers (IAD) requires dismissal with prejudice when time limits are exceeded in cases involving defendants imprisoned in other states subscribing to IAD compact, the trial court has discretion whether to dismiss with or without prejudice for a violation of Rule 8.3(a). The decision to dismiss with or without prejudice depends on whether the delay infringed defendant's Sixth Amendment right to speedy trial. State v. Estrada, 187 Ariz. 490, 492-439 (App. 1996). 

To trigger the 180-day trial deadline under Article III of the IAD, a prisoner must comply with the requirements of the IAD. State v. Galvez, 214 Ariz. 154, 155, ¶ 5 (App .2006). Although strict compliance with the IAD is not required, substantial compliance is necessary and the prisoner bears the burden of proving substantial compliance with the Article III notice requirements. Id. at 157, ¶ 18. Among other requirements, the IAD mandates the following: (1) the prisoner must prepare a written request for final disposition of the pending charges; (2) the prisoner must include in the written request the place of imprisonment; (3) the prisoner must send the request to the warden having custody of the prisoner; (4) the prisoner must cause the request to be delivered to the prosecutor in the receiving state and to the appropriate court of that same state; (5) the prisoner's request must be sent to the receiving state's prosecutor and court by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested; (6) the prisoner's request must be accompanied by a certificate of the out-of-state official having custody of the prisoner; and (7) the certificate of the out-of-state official must include certain specified information, i.e., term of imprisonment, time served, time remaining to be served, good time credit earned, date of parole eligibility and any parole agency decisions regarding the prisoner. Id. at 157, ¶ 17. 

Rule 8.3(a) is intended to supplement the provisions of the IAD. Thus, the Rule 8.3 speedy trial time does not start until the prosecutor is “required by law” to take action to obtain an out-of-state prisoner's presence for trial. Where a defendant never substantially complied with the IAD, the prosecutor was never “required by law” to bring him or her to Arizona, and the Rule 8.3 clock does not start running. State v. Galvez, 214 Ariz. 154, 158, ¶ 27 (App. 2006).

Rule 8.3(b), Persons Within the state: 

(1) Any person who is imprisoned in this state may request final disposition of any untried indictment, information or complaint pending against the person in this state. The request must be in writing addressed to the court in which the charge is filed and to the prosecutor charged with the duty of prosecuting it, and shall set forth the place of imprisonment.

(2) Within 30 days after a detainer has been filed against a prisoner incarcerated within this state, the prosecutor charged with the duty of prosecuting the charge from which the detainer results, must inform the prisoner of the detainer and of the prisoner's right to request its final disposition under Rule 8.3(b)(1).

(3) Within 90 days after sending such a request to the court and prosecutor, the prisoner must be brought to trial upon the charge.

(4) The escape from custody of a prisoner subsequent to the prisoner's request for final disposition of an untried indictment, information or complaint shall void the request.
· COMMENT: Section (b) is modeled roughly after the Uniform Mandatory Disposition of Detainers Act (1958). This rule provides prisoners with an appropriate procedure for demanding trial, including the prosecutor's duty to notify the prisoner of his right to demand an immediate trial whenever a detainer is lodged against him.
The Uniform Mandatory Disposition of Detainers Act was adopted only to the extent that it is embodied in Rule 8.3(b), and does not dictate the procedure to be followed when dealing with detainers on in-state prisoners. A prisoner is entitled to have a pending matter tried within 90 days of mailing a request to the trial court and the prosecutor; if trial is not held within that period, Rule 8.6 calls for dismissal. While the Uniform Mandatory Disposition of Detainers Act requires notice by certified or registered mail, Rule 8.3(b) is not so explicit; it does not require actual notice but simply “mailing.” The presumption of receipt upon proper mailing is a strong one, but can be overcome with sufficient evidence. Where the defendant presents uncontroverted evidence of the mailing of his request, as a matter of law his right to speedy trial was denied even though the State had no actual notice of the motion. State v. Baca, 172 Ariz. 1, 2 (App. 1992). 
Rule 8.3 applies to “persons imprisoned for other crimes,” while Rule 8.2 “sets forth the time limits for all other defendants, including those in pretrial custody." If a prisoner chooses not to request a final disposition of pending charges, he or she may not then claim the time limits under Rule 8 have been violated. The time limits under Rule 8.2 do not apply, and the limits of Rule 8.3 do not begin to run unless and until the prisoner requests a final disposition. It is incumbent upon the prisoner to request a final disposition to enforce his rights under that rule. Further, the State has no duty to search for a defendant incarcerated on other charges where the defendant never requested disposition of indictment. State ex rel. Berning v. Davis, 191 Ariz. 189, 190-91 (App. 1997). 
D. 
Rule 8.4 Excluded Periods

· COMMENT: Rule 8.4 specifies those periods of time which are to be excluded from the computations of Rules 8.2 and 8.3. 
Rule 8.4 (a): The following periods are excluded from the computation of the time limits set forth in Rules 8.2 and 8.3: Delays occasioned by or on behalf of the defendant, including, but not limited to, delays caused by an examination and hearing to determine competency or intellectual disability, the defendant's absence or incompetence, or his or her inability to be arrested or taken into custody in Arizona. If a finding by the court that the defendant is competent or has been restored to competency or is no longer absent occurs within 30 days of the time limits set forth in Rules 8.2 and 8.3, an additional period of 30 days is excluded from the computation of the time limits. 
· This text is effective January 1, 2017.

· Text effective until January 1, 2017: The following periods shall be excluded from the computation of the time limits set forth in Rules 8.2 and 8.3: Delays occasioned by or on behalf of the defendant, including, but not limited to, delays caused by an examination and hearing to determine competency or intellectual disability, the defendant's absence or incompetence, or his or her inability to be arrested or taken into custody in Arizona.

· COMMENT: Section (a) states that delays occasioned by the defendant, or on his behalf, such as hospitalization for mental treatment are to be excluded. The rule is in accordance with Arizona case law which holds that a defendant who deliberately stalls the proceeding cannot thereafter claim his right to a speedy trial. State v. Bowman, 105 Ariz. 307, 464 P.2d 330 (1970). It broadens that holding in that any delay occasioned by the defendant, whether intentional or not, is to be excluded from the computation. Thus, if delay occurs because the defendant is absent from the jurisdiction, even though his absence is not willful, e. g., if he does not know that charges have been brought against him, the period of delay is to be excluded.
1.
Delays by Defendant
Any delay caused by defense is excluded time under Rule 8, even if it did not result in actual delay of trial date. If the rule were otherwise, a defendant could delay all proceedings before the initial trial date and then contend that any prosecutorial delay, no matter how small, denied him his Rule 8 rights. Mathews v. State, 162 Ariz. 208, 209 (App. 1989). See also State v. Blakley, 204 Ariz. 429, 441, ¶ 62 (2003)(court did not err in finding no speedy trial violation where: the time between defendant's arraignment and first scheduled trial date was includable; the nearly 1-year delay between the first scheduled trial date and status conference to determine a firm trial date was excludable as resulting from defense motions to continue and pretrial motions; the period between the date of the status conference and date set for trial at that conference, as requested by defense counsel, was excludable from speedy trial period; and 21-day continuance of trial that was granted on motion by State was includable).
Ten-month delay in the course of a 2-year, 9-month period between capital murder defendant's arrest and his trial due to retirement of defendant's lead attorney was not attributable to the State; the State is not responsible for defense counsel's decision to retire and the resulting delay. State v. Parker, 231 Ariz. 391, 398, ¶ 13 (2013). Normally, a delay sought on behalf of the defendant by his counsel will be binding on the defendant and have the effect of waiving a speedy trial even though done without the knowledge or consent of the defendant. State v. Kelly, 123 Ariz. 24, 25 (1979). The fact that the defendant remained silent and did not demand a speedy trial cannot constitute a legal waiver of his right. However, the affirmative action on his part in attempting to block his extradition to Arizona must certainly be construed as a waiver on his part of his right to a speedy trial. State v. McDonald, 111 Ariz. 159, 162 (1974). The time seeking special action relief, on speedy trial grounds, is delay occasioned on behalf of the defendant. The time for Rule 11 proceedings, even though State initiated, is properly excluded under Rule 8.4(a). State v. Smith, 146 Ariz. 325, 327 (App. 1985).
When two or more cases are consolidated for trial the time limitations of Rule 8.2(c) must be calculated from the case that has the longest period of time available under the provisions of Rule 8. Further, where the consolidation of the charges was occasioned on behalf of all the parties including the defendant, time over the 90-day time limitation between date of arraignment and date of trial is considered an excluded period of time under Rule 8.4(a). State v. Campos, 24 Ariz. App. 353, 357 (1975).

For purpose of exclusion for delay caused by defendant, knowledge or willfulness of defendant is not a factor, and exclusion is automatic regardless of defendant's state of mind. The period within which State was unable to serve defendant despite due diligence in its efforts to locate him is excludable, notwithstanding his contention that he did not purposely evade police. State v. Tarkington, 157 Ariz. 556, 559-560 (App. 1988); 
Humble v. Superior Court, 179 Ariz. 409, 413 (App. 1993). 
2.
State's Due Diligence

Once a defendant has established a prima facie violation of Rule 8 and the State seeks exclusion of time under Rule 8.4, the State bears the burden of establishing the grounds for exclusion of the delay. Thus, absent a showing of a defendant's willful avoidance of service, the State has the burden to show due diligence in order to exclude the time during which it was unable to locate a defendant for service. Humble v. Superior Court, 179 Ariz. 409, 413-414 (App. 1993).

While the question of reasonable diligence turns on the details of each case, the general standard is whether the State took reasonable steps to pursue the matter, or failed to follow-up on significant leads. Snow v. Superior Court, 183 Ariz. 320, 325 (App.1995)(state's failure to contact nearest relative who had been listed by defendant showed lack of diligence in locating him); Humble v. Superior Court, 179 Ariz. 409, 413-414 (App. 1993)(failure to follow up on any of four significant leads shows a lack of due diligence), State v. Armstrong, 160 Ariz. 159, 160 (App.1989)(no effort to check MVD records or speak with neighbor or telephone defendant shows lack of diligence). Compare, State v. Acinelli, 191 Ariz. 66, 68-69 (App. 1997)(state made reasonable efforts to locate defendant based upon information that it possessed, and thus defendant's speedy trial rights were not violated, assuming that speedy trial period was exceeded; officers attempted to contact defendant by telephone, officers twice contacted police in defendant's state and asked them to execute warrant, and officer telefaxed warrant to detective in defendant's locale for execution). 
Rule 8.4(b): Delays resulting from a remand for new probable cause determination under Rules 5.5 or 12.9.

· COMMENT: To avoid abuse of the right to superior court review of a probable cause determination, the time lost by a remand is excluded. See Comments to Rules 5.5 and 12.9.

Excludable time limits under Rule 8.4(b) run from the date of the filing of a motion for a new determination of probable cause to the date of the resulting information of indictment – not from the date the trial court grants the motion. State v. Hunter, 227 Ariz. 542, 543-44, ¶ 6 (App. 2011). 
Rule 8.4(c): Delays resulting from extension of the time for disclosure under Rule 15.6.
· COMMITTEE COMMENT TO 2003 AMENDMENT TO RULE 8.4(C): In most cases, scientific evidence is anticipated to be ready for examination and disclosure within the time periods set forth in Rule 15. However, there are circumstances in which the analysis and examination of scientific evidence cannot be completed within the prescribed time limits, resulting in an extension of the time for disclosure pursuant to Rule 15.6. The need to complete the examination of this scientific evidence may under the particular circumstances of a case constitute extraordinary circumstances and justify a trial continuance for the completion of scientific evidence examination. The October 16, 2003 amendment is applicable to all criminal cases in which the indictment, information or complaint is filed on or after December 1, 2003, or in which service of the mandate of an appellate court ordering a new trial upon the reversal of a judgment occurs on or after December 1, 2003.
Rule 8.4(c) allows the exclusion from speedy trial time of “[d]elays resulting from extension of the time for disclosure under Rule 15.6.” Rule 15.6(e) in turn allows extensions of the time for disclosure of “scientific evidence.” DNA evidence is undoubtedly one type of such scientific evidence. This rule differs from Rule 8.2(a)(3) in important aspects. First, the Rule 8.4(c) exclusion requires the affidavit of an expert or laboratory representative that additional time is needed for testing, and must specify the additional time needed. See Rule 15.6(e), Ariz. R. Crim. P. Second, the exclusion is mandatory: The court “shall” grant the extension unless the delay “resulted from dilatory conduct, neglect, or other improper reason....” Ariz. R.Crim. P. 15.6(e). Finally, a Rule 8.4(c) extension does not necessarily rest on the inherent complexity of the evidence. The comment to this provision, adopted in 2003, states that it applies when an unavoidable backlog in a crime laboratory necessitates more time. Snyder v. Donato, 211 Ariz. 117, 121, ¶ 16 (App. 2005). Even public comment regarding the 2003 amendment to Rule 15.6(e) recognized that, despite the exercise of due diligence, both private and public crime laboratories may not be able to complete testing within the time limits prescribed by our speedy trial rules. Id. at 122, n. 3. However, neither ordinary court calendar congestion, Rule 8.4(d), nor unexplained laboratory backlog, Rule 8.4(c), is an acceptable reason for deviating from the ordinary Rule 8 time limits. Ordinary congestion in the prosecutor's or investigating police officer's caseload is also a dubious reason to ignore the speedy trial limits, at least when nothing other than the usual press of business causes the delay. Id. at 123, n. 6. 
Granting a continuance under Rule 15.7 was an improper sanction for the State's untimely disclosure of inculpatory DNA evidence in violation of Rule 15.6, where the continuance delayed trial beyond the last day under Rule 8.2. Jimenez v. Chavez, 234 Ariz. 448, 453, ¶ 23 (App. 2014).
Rule 8.4(d): Delays necessitated by congestion of the trial calendar, but only when the congestion is attributable to extraordinary circumstances, in which case the presiding judge shall promptly apply to the Chief Justice of the Arizona Supreme Court for suspension of any of the Rules of Criminal Procedure.
· COMMENT: This section is intended to overrule State v. Churchill, 82 Ariz. 375, 313 P.2d 753 (1957), in which the supreme court held that ordinary congestion of the courts was good cause under the 1956 Arizona Rules of Criminal Procedure, as amended, Rule 236, for a continuance of the case on the court's initiative. Extraordinary circumstances should not be construed to cover the “normal” congestion caused by the annual summer vacations of judges and attorneys. To insure compliance with the spirit of the provision, the presiding judge of the court in which the extraordinary congestion occurs is directed to notify the chief justice at once of the situation. See Rule 1.4(b) for the definition of presiding judge.
Neither ordinary court calendar congestion, Rule 8.4(d), nor unexplained laboratory backlog, Rule 8.4(c), is an acceptable reason for deviating from the ordinary Rule 8 time limits. Ordinary congestion in the prosecutor's or investigating police officer's caseload is also a dubious reason to ignore the speedy trial limits, at least when nothing other than the usual press of business causes the delay. Snyder v. Donato, 211 Ariz. 117, 123, n. 6 (App. 2005).

The trial court may not permissibly exclude time as “necessitated by congestion of the trial calendar” without first applying to the supreme court for a suspension of the rules in accordance with the requirements of Rule 8.4(c). State v. Vasko, 193 Ariz. 142, 146, ¶ 16 (App. 1998); Watts v. Fleischman, 161 Ariz. 336, 338 (1989)(delay characterized as “court calendar congestion” is excludable only if proper procedure is followed); State ex rel. Berger v. Superior Court In & For Maricopa County, 111 Ariz. 335, 338 (1974)(no time could be excluded in computing time for speedy trial purposes on theory of extraordinary circumstances due to congestion of trial calendar, where presiding judge was not apprised of the problem). 

Rule 8.4(e): Delays resulting from continuances in accordance with Rule 8.5, but only for the time periods prescribed therein.
· COMMENT: The impact of this section is described in the comments to Rule 8.5.
· See Rule 8.5, infra. 

Rule 8.4(f): Delays resulting from joinder for trial with another defendant as to whom the time limits have not run when there is good cause for denying severance. In all other cases, severance should be granted to preserve the applicable time limits.
· COMMENT: This section is taken almost verbatim from ABA, Standards, at § 2.3(g). It is intended to apprise judges explicitly of the relative importance of convenient joinder and the enforcement of the defendant's right to speedy trial. The balance is drawn in favor of the speedy trial.
Rule 8.4(f) allows for trial delay when a defendant is tried with a codefendant “as to whom the time limits [of Rule 8] have not run.” However, “good cause for denying severance” must exist. Delaying severance based on antagonistic defenses to assure that severance was actually required is within the boundaries of “good cause.” State v. Rigsby, 160 Ariz. 178, 181 (1989)(defendant not denied speedy trial since his trial was joined with codefendant whose last day for trial had not yet passed, even though defendants' trials were severed after opening argument and last day court could have brought defendant individually to trial had already passed by then).
Delay occasioned by or on behalf of one of several defendants is attributable to his co-defendants for the purpose of determining whether the speedy trial time limits have been violated. State v. Johnson, 122 Ariz. 260, 269 (1979)(delay resulting from illness of codefendant's counsel).

A reasonable time within which to reset a case for trial after a severance motion has been granted is an excluded period of time under the speedy trial rule. State v. Hopper, 25 Ariz. App. 65, 66 (1975)(where defendant was arrested on December 9 and trial was originally set for April 1, and motion for severance was made on March 15 and trial was reset to April 15 without objection from defendant at the hearing, delay was reasonable and an excluded time period under speedy trial rule).
When two or more cases are consolidated for trial the time limitations of Rule 8.2(c) must be calculated from the case that has the longest period of time available under the provisions of Rule 8. Further, where the consolidation of the charges was occasioned on behalf of all the parties including the defendant, time over the 90-day time limitation between date of arraignment and date of trial is considered an excluded period of time under Rule 8.4(a). State v. Campos, 24 Ariz. App. 353, 357 (1975).
Rule 8.4(g): Delays resulting from the setting of a transfer hearing pursuant to Rule 40 of these rules. 
· See also A.R.S. § 13-504 (Persons under 18 years of age; juvenile transfer).
E. 
Rule 8.5 Continuances

· COMMENT: This rule applies in all courts – justice and city magistrate as well as superior courts.
Rule 8.5(a), Form of Motion: A continuance of a trial may be granted on the motion of a party. Any motion must be in writing and state with specificity the reason(s) justifying the continuance.
· COMMENT: Rule 8.5(a). Section (a) specifies the form of the motion for continuance. It must be in writing, specify the grounds and be accompanied by a certificate of good faith by the signer.
Rule 8.5(b), Grounds for Motion: A continuance of any trial date shall be granted only upon a showing that extraordinary circumstances exist and that delay is indispensable to the interests of justice. A continuance may be granted only for so long as is necessary to serve the interests of justice. In ruling on a motion for continuance, the court shall consider the rights of the defendant and any victim to a speedy disposition of the case. If a continuance is granted, the court shall state the specific reasons for the continuance on the record.
· COMMENT: Rule 8.5(b). Section (b) limits the grounds for granting, and the permissible period of, a continuance. The grounds for the motion are that “extraordinary” circumstances exist and that delay is indispensable to the interests of justice; the standards contained in the 1968 Federal Magistrates Act, 18 U.S.C.A. § 3060(c) (1969). This may be contrasted with the standard of the 1956 Arizona Rules of Criminal Procedure, as amended, Rule 241 “. . . in its discretion for good cause . . .” A continuance shall be no longer than necessary and in no case longer than 30 days. (Contrast with the 1956 Arizona Rules of Criminal Procedure, as amended, Rule 247 which sets no time limit.).
· COMMENT: The 1991 amendment to Rule 8.5(b) was adopted to help implement Ariz. Const. Art. II, § 2.1(A)(10), which gives victims the constitutional right “To a speedy trial or disposition....” In ruling on continuance motions, this victim's right must be considered in conjunction with the defendant's constitutional right to a fair trial.
Rule 8.5(c), Other Continuances: No further continuances shall be granted except as provided in Rules 8.1(e), 8.2(e) and 8.4 (d).
A motion for continuance is not granted as a matter of right. It is solely within the sound discretion of the trial judge whose decision will not be disturbed unless there is a clear abuse of discretion, and unless denial of the motion is shown to be prejudicial. State v. Ortiz, 117 Ariz. 264, 266 (App. 1977). Whether a court has abused its discretion depends on the particular facts and circumstances of the case. See State v. Lamar, 205 Ariz. 431, 437, ¶ 28 (2003). A continuance in the middle of trial should be granted “only under the most exigent circumstances.” State v. Eisenlord, 137 Ariz. 385, 391 (App. 1983).

The prosecutor has a duty to ask for and obtain the necessary continuances when the circumstances became apparent that it is necessary to do so, presenting to the court facts which would warrant such a continuance and making a record from which the appellate court, if necessary, may find support for said continuance. State ex rel. Berger v. Superior Court In & For Maricopa County, 111 Ariz. 335, 339 (1974).
1.
Unavailability of Witnesses

The unavailability of a key witness may constitute an extraordinary circumstance justifying a continuance. However, in circumstances where such a scheduling conflict can be foreseen and avoided, a continuance may not be warranted. Rule 8 does require more than just a mere allegation of a witness's unavailability to justify a continuance on that basis. State v. Vasko, 193 Ariz. 142, 144-45, ¶ 11, ¶ 14 (App. 1998)(unavailability of arresting officer constituted extraordinary circumstance justifying continuance where placement of matter on case transfer status prevented state from proceeding to trial on date when officer was available, and State was not responsible for case transfer status and could not have foreseen or avoided it); State v. Kasten, 170 Ariz. 224, 226-27 (App.1991)(upholding trial court's granting of state's motion for continuance where victim was missing and prosecutor had no knowledge that victim was reluctant to testify). 

The standard for reviewing a trial court's denial of a defendant's motion for a continuance in order to secure the presence of a witness includes the following factors: 
1. Whether the testimony is material to the case.

2. Whether the testimony can be elicited from another source.

3. Whether the testimony is cumulative.

4. Probability of securing the absent witness in a reasonable time.

5. Whether the requesting party was diligent and acting in good faith.

6. The inconvenience to the court and/or others.

7. The likelihood that the testimony would have affected the jury's verdict.

State v. Reynolds, 123 Ariz. 117, 118, (App. 1979)(prejudicial error to deny defendant's motion to continue homicide trial so that defendant could present psychiatric testimony in support of his insanity defense; insanity was his principal defense, testimony of the psychiatrist was central to that defense, defendant's attorney was not notified until 6 days before trial the psychiatrist was out of town and could not testify, and the State had been granted 2 continuances in the case, the second over defendant's objection). See also: State v. Jackson, 157 Ariz. 589, 593-594 (App. 1988)(upholding denial of continuance based on the fact defendant had ample opportunity to secure the attendance of witness several months before trial, defense counsel was aware he was potentially a material witness, and court had done everything possible to secure his attendance; further, no prejudice because even if witness corroborated defendant's the outcome would be no different); State v. Ferreira, 152 Ariz. 289, 295 (App. 1986)(upholding denial of continuance to give defendant's hair comparison expert time to review proposed testimony of State's hair examiner based on the fact that due to backlog in transcription services, defendant's expert did not receive state witness' transcribed proposed testimony until day before trial, where defense counsel made no effort to prevent expert's unpreparedness by failing to provide recording of interview in defense counsel's possession or providing defense expert with copy of state witness' notes).
2.
Unavailability of Key Court Personnel

The time required to reassign the case when the State files a notice of change  of judge is excludable when calculating the last day for trial under Rule 8. The State has the right, equal to the Defendant's, to request a change of judge. To refuse to exclude time under these circumstances would nullify that right. Thus, the brief time necessary to reassign the case was excludable under Rule 8 because it was in the interest of justice to procure a judge to preside over the case. The absence of key court personnel is an extraordinary circumstance for purposes of Rule 8.5. State v. Henry, 191 Ariz. 283, 284-285 (App. 1997); see also State v. Schaaf, 169 Ariz. 323, 328 (1991)(appointment of defendant's attorney as judge pro tem a week before trial date was extraordinary circumstance permitting continuance of trial date beyond speedy trial period); State v. Lukezic, 143 Ariz. 60, 70 (1984)(illness of trial judge justified exclusion of reasonable time from speedy trial period where accused asserted no demonstrable prejudice).
3.
Defense Motions

The grant of a continuance is an exercise of the sound discretion of the trial court, and the denial of a motion for continuance will not be disturbed unless (1) the trial court clearly abused its discretion in denying the motion, and (2) prejudice resulted. State v. Atwood, 171 Ariz. 576, 620 (1992)(trial court did not err in denying  defense motion to continue to question certain prosecution witnesses before trial where defense was allowed to interview each witness before he or she testified, even if it meant recessing the trial to do so). Compare: State v. Garcia-Contreras, 191 Ariz. 144, 146, 149, ¶ 7, ¶ 22 (1998)(court committed structural error in denying defense motion to continue when defendant's civilian clothes did not arrive in time for jury selection; this forced defendant to either appear before the jury in prison attire, jeopardizing his 14th Amendment guarantee of presumptive innocence, or sacrifice his 6th Amendment right to be present at jury selection).   
 
There is no abuse of discretion in denying a motion to continue when the record reflects that the defendant failed to exercise due diligence in preparing for trial. State v. Barr, 217 Ariz. 445, 448, ¶ 10 (App. 2008)(defendant not prejudiced by denial of continuance of presentence hearing to obtain information on whether a prior conviction for an undesignated offense had been since designated as a misdemeanor which could not be used as an aggravating factor in his sentencing; the information he subsequently obtained confirmed that the prior conviction was still an undesignated offense). See also State v. Cramer, 174 Ariz. 522, 525 (App. 1992)(after defendant was granted 5-month continuance to investigate and prepare all defenses in narcotics prosecution, denial of further continuances after defendant's medical necessity defense was precluded was not abuse of discretion).
It is not an abuse of discretion to deny a continuance where the testimony is sought for impeachment purposes only. State v. Eisenlord, 137 Ariz. 385, 392 (App. 1983), citing State v. Griffin, 117 Ariz. 54, 56 (1977)(defendant's confrontation right was not denied by refusal of continuance of suppression hearing until the elderly victim was well enough to attend; victim was present at trial and testified both on direct and cross-examination, defendant was not precluded from asking any question which might have been asked at the suppression hearing, and trial court did not preclude defendant from re-raising any issue or renewing any motion which normally would have been disposed of at the suppression hearing). See also State v. Powers, 200 Ariz. 123, 128 (App. 2001), approved, 200 Ariz. 363 (2001)(defendant made insufficient showing psychologist's testimony would have added anything to information already possessed by sentencing court and thus did not show prejudice from court's denial of continuance so psychologist could appear to testify); State v. Willoughby, 181 Ariz. 530, 547 (1995)(upholding denial of continuance of death penalty sentencing because evidence would be cumulative and defense had already received several continuances and presented 17 mitigation witnesses); State v. Cook, 170 Ariz. 40, 56 (1991)(upholding denial of continuance to secure testimony of witnesses whose testimony would be irrelevant or cumulative); State v. Apelt, 176 Ariz. 349, 365-66 (1993)(upholding denial of motion to continue and pay costs for defense counsel to travel to Germany in search of mitigating evidence in absence of any showing that the trip was necessary). But see State v. Eastlack, 180 Ariz. 243 (1994)(1995)(trial court should have continued sentencing hearing to allow defense counsel to locate and prepare an expert psychological witness in a capital case). 
A trial court should grant a continuance in the middle of trial only under the most exigent circumstances. State v. Eisenlord, 137 Ariz. 385, 391 (App. 1983)(no exigent circumstances requiring continuance for further investigation of informant's past activities; defense counsel had prior opportunity to discover informant's past activities at a pretrial interview and failed to pursue the matter, record revealed a portion of the evidence concerned irrelevant activities, and defense counsel admitted he would use the evidence he hoped to discover for impeachment purposes). 
4.
New Defense Lawyer

The courts will usually grant a defense counsel's motion to continue to prepare for trial, even over the defendant's own speedy trial objection, when the facts indicate that defense counsel needs more time to prepare and no evidence exists of a lack of diligence by counsel.  Denying accused's counsel sufficient time to prepare the case is denial of a substantial right. State v. Clark, 196 Ariz. 530, 539-540 ¶¶ 44-45 (App. 1999)(granting joint motion of prosecutor and defense counsel for continuance, and denying defendant's responsive motion to proceed pro per immediately or to retain new counsel, was not abuse of discretion based on determination that extraordinary circumstances justified counsel's request and that representation by counsel was more important than trying case precipitously).
A defendant cannot, on the day of trial, delay the trial by requesting to proceed in propria persona, and then demand additional time to prepare himself to proceed as his own attorney. When a motion for self-representation made on the day of trial is coupled with a request for a continuance, it is not an abuse of discretion to deny the motion. State v. Thompson, 190 Ariz. 555, 557 (App. 1997). Nor can a defendant demand a new attorney on the day of trial and demand additional time for new counsel to prepare. State v. Jones, 113 Ariz. 567, 571 (1976)(trial court did not err in denying motion for continuance where defendant had discharged 2 previous appointed attorneys, and the third attorney withdrew because of defendant's dissatisfaction, had sufficient time to obtain services of another or prepare case himself, waited until day of trial and last day under speedy trial rules to make the motion, and whose tactics were both dilatory and obstructive).
While a defendant has the right to be represented by counsel, the right to choice of counsel is not absolute nor is there a right to repeated continuances to hire new counsel. When a defendant moves to continue to seek new counsel, several factors must be considered, namely: whether other continuances were granted, whether other competent counsel was prepared, the convenience to the litigants and witnesses, the length of requested delay, the complexity of the case and reason for delay. State v. West, 168 Ariz. 292, 296-97 (App. 1991)(defendant not deprived of counsel when trial court refused to grant continuance for substitution of counsel to prepare where there had already been several continuances, defendant had been in jail for 8 months, substitute counsel was not prepared to try case on first firm trial date, and she could not state with positive assurance that she would be ready for trial on date specified in her motion for continuance), citing State v. Hein, 138 Ariz. 360, 369 (1983). 
5.
Vacations 
Police officers, like prosecutors, are representatives of the State and should be required to make some adjustments in their schedule so as to be available for trial. While under other circumstances a continuance may be justified because of a police officer's vacation schedule, the State must show better reasons than a bare allegation of a "vacation conflict" in order to justify a continuance. State v. Strickland, 27 Ariz.App. 695, 696-697 (App. 1976); See also State v. Corrales, 26 Ariz.App. 344, 345 (1976)(prosecutor's vacation is not an extraordinary circumstance; it is the prosecutor's duty to see that trials are not scheduled during his or her vacation or to make arrangements for someone else to take the case). Compare, State v. Vasko,193 Ariz. 142, 145, ¶ 11 (App. 1998)(the State not responsible for the delay caused by case transfer, nor could the State have foreseen and avoided that conflict). The courts have granted defense attorneys continuances to accommodate a previously planned vacation, even when the defendant objects and refuses to waive time. See, e.g., State v. Rickman, 148 Ariz. 499, 501 (1986). 
The vacation schedule of an essential prosecution witness may justify a continuance if the prosecution acts promptly to request a continuance as soon as the prosecution becomes aware of the conflict. State v. Heise, 117 Ariz. 524, 525 (App. 1977)(granting State's motion for continuance reversible error where State waited until trial date to move to continue because essential witness was unavailable; State did not show extraordinary circumstances and failed to bring witness's vacation schedule to trial court's attention when court moved trial to date during witness's vacation). 
F. 
Rule 8.6 Denial of Speedy Trial

Violations: If the court determines after considering the exclusions of Rule 8.4, that a time limit established by Rules 8.2(a), 8.2(b), 8.2(c), 8.2(d), 8.3(a), 8.3(b)(2), or 8.3(b)(3) has been violated, it shall on motion of the defendant, or on its own initiative, dismiss the prosecution with or without prejudice.
Because of the importance of a speedy trial, there is a presumption that a matter has not been diligently pursued if the time limits of Rule 8 are violated. However, the converse is also true. If the matter is brought to trial within the time limits, due diligence is presumed. State ex rel. Romley v. Superior Court, 162 Ariz. 302, 305 (1989). (evidence was insufficient to overcome presumption of due diligence created when State was ready to prosecute defendant within 150-day speedy trial time limit that applied by virtue of defendant's being in custody on unrelated parole violation). 
A defendant must object at trial to an alleged Rule 8 speedy trial violation to preserve the issue for appeal. Rule 8.6 is to afford a defendant relief from a speedy trial violation before his untimely trial. Rule 8 also obliges a defendant to vigorously assert his speedy trial right. Thus, for example, Rule 8 requires a defendant to notify the court of an impending speedy trial deadline in order to preserve his objection to a Rule 8 violation. Indeed, a speedy trial error is waived on appeal if defendant has not timely objected in the trial court. Thus, a defendant must bring a pretrial special action to this court in order to preserve a purely technical, non-prejudicial Rule 8 violation. State v. Vasko, 193 Ariz. 142, 148 ¶ 25 (App. 1998).

While violations of a defendant's federal constitutional right to a speedy trial mandate dismissal with prejudice, Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514 (1972), violations of Rule 8, Ariz. R. Crim. P., do not automatically require the same dismissal with prejudice: "It is not the purpose of the speedy trial provision to enable the guilty to go free on technicalities." State ex rel. Berger v. Superior Court, 111 Ariz. 335, 340 (1974). Instead, while Rule 8.6, Ariz. R. Crim. P., mandates a dismissal for violation of a Rule 8 time limit, that dismissal may be either with or without prejudice. The trial court has discretion to determine whether a dismissal for a Rule 8 violation is with or without prejudice. Humble v. Superior Court, 179 Ariz. 409, 415 (App. 1993). If a case against a criminal defendant is dismissed without prejudice and is later refiled by the State, the Rule 8 time limit begins anew. State v. Mendoza, 170 Ariz. 184, 187 (1992). 
In determining whether to dismiss with prejudice for a Rule 8 violation, courts should consider the same factors as are used in determining whether to dismiss with prejudice for a federal due process violation, namely: (1) whether delay before trial was uncommonly long; (2) whether the government or the criminal defendant is more to blame for that delay; (3) whether, in due course, the defendant asserted his right to a speedy trial; and (4) whether he suffered prejudice as the delay's result. Humble v. Superior Court, 179 Ariz. 409, 416 (App. 1993); State v. Medina, 190 Ariz. 418, 422 n. 3 (App. 1997). The first prong is a "trigger"; a defendant must assert that the delay between indictment and trial is presumptively prejudicial. Delay is presumptively prejudicial as it approaches one year and intensifies over time. Humble, 179 Ariz. at 416 (5-year delay from indictment to arrest on DUI with two prior felonies was presumptively prejudicial warranting dismissal of indictment with prejudice on speedy trial grounds). 
The same considerations discussed in the cases construing Rule 16.6 govern whether a Rule 8 violation should be with or without prejudice. "In other words, if the defendant can show that the State delayed for the purpose of gaining a tactical advantage over him or to harass him, and if he can show that he actually suffered prejudice as a result of the state's conduct, a dismissal with prejudice would be justified." State v. Garcia, 170 Ariz. 245, 248 (App. 1991); Rule 16.5 (d), Ariz. R. Crim. P. Further, an automatic conversion of a dismissal without prejudice into a dismissal with prejudice is not favored. Rule 16.6(d) requires a reasoned finding that the interests of justice require the dismissal to be with prejudice, and the judge is required to actually weigh the factors that bear on the issue. "Setting an arbitrary time limit in the absence of circumstances demonstrating that the defendant will suffer some articulable prejudice as a result of the lapse of that period of time is less than the rule contemplates." Garcia, Id. See also State v. Gilbert TA \s "State v. Gilbert" , 172 Ariz. 402, 405  (App.1991)(absent evidence the State acted in bad faith or to harass the defendant in twice moving to dismiss prosecution shortly before trial, the interests of justice did not require dismissal with prejudice where only prejudice was annoyance, inconvenience, and continued incarceration in county jail under conditions less favorable than those defendant would have experienced had probation been revoked so she could be transferred to DOC).  
The mere passage of an arbitrary time limit is not sufficient to warrant dismissal of a case with prejudice. A “reasoned finding” demands more of a trial court than the rote recitation into the record of the legal incantation “interests of justice” in order to meet the requirements of Rule 16.6; the rule requires the trial court to state on the record its reasons for concluding that dismissal with prejudice is in the interests of justice. This statement must be based on a particularized finding that to do otherwise would result in some articulable harm to the defendant. State v. Wills, 177 Ariz. 592, 594 (App. 1993). See also State v. Granados, 172 Ariz. 405, 407 (App.1991)(judge's belief that dismissal should be with prejudice either because finality is desirable and/or delay can result in prejudice because memories dim and evidence is lost will not support dismissal with prejudice); State v. Gilbert, 172 Ariz. 402, 405 (App.1991)(interests of justice did not require dismissal of criminal prosecution with prejudice based on desirability of finality, even though the State had twice moved for dismissal without prejudice shortly before trial). 
To demonstrate the "prejudice to the defendant" factor, the defendant must show that his ability to present his defense was harmed by the delay.  It is not sufficient for a defendant to contend that the state may not have made its case had the trial proceeded without the continuance. State v. Vasko, 193 Ariz. 142, 147, ¶ 22 (App. 1998). A defendant who fails to establish that his defense was prejudiced or that he was deprived of a fair trial has not established prejudice sufficient to warrant reversal of his conviction. State v. Wassenaar, 215 Ariz. 565, 571, ¶ 16 (App. 2007). In no other area of criminal jurisprudence would criminal conviction be reversed on the basis of a harmless, technical error. State v. Hunter, 227 Ariz. 542, 544, ¶ 10 (App. 2011). See also State v. Spreitz, 190 Ariz. 129, 140 (1997)(although 5 years in custody may have increased defendant's personal anxiety, it in no way prejudiced his capacity to defend against the claims of the state). 
G.
Rule 8.7 Acceleration of Trial 

Where special circumstances relating to the victim so warrant, the court may accelerate the trial to the earliest possible date that is consistent with the defendant's right to a fair trial. If necessary, the presiding judge shall assign another judge of the court to preside at trial in order to ensure that the trial commences as scheduled.

· COMMENT TO 1991 [RULE] The 1991 [rule] is designed for situations where the victim has an especially strong interest in accelerating the date of trial, as in cases where the victim's health may be failing. Any such acceleration must, however, be consistent with the defendant's fair trial right. 
· Rule 8.7 was adopted in order to implement the speedy trial provisions of the Victims' Bill of Rights, which was incorporated into the Arizona Constitution in 1990 as Art. II, § 2.1.

H.
Rule 8 Guidelines Applicable Only in Maricopa County
The express language of Rule 8 is self-explanatory and easily understood. The time limits set forth in Rule 8.2 are obvious and are designed to protect a defendant from undue post-accusation delay, and provide for both parties to the action a time framework for a relatively quick and, presumably, fair and just resolution of the matter. Because of the burgeoning criminal caseload in the Maricopa County Superior Court, which, in turn, brings about the ever-increasing number of judges being assigned to the criminal department of the court, together with the corresponding growth of the number of lawyers, public and private, representing the parties, a concern for the uniform application of the law regarding “Speedy Trial” as expressed in Rule 8 has been recognized. The following guidelines have been adopted by the judges of the Criminal Department after being recommended for approval by the Bench-Bar Criminal Study Committee to further guide the court and counsel and to enable just and efficient resolution of cases.

I. TRIAL SETTINGS
The trial should commence on either the date scheduled at the arraignment or on the date mutually agreed upon by court and counsel at the pre-trial conference.

· Commentary: The trial should begin on the date scheduled for trial, whether that date is the computer-set trial date announced at the defendant's arraignment or, if that date is unrealistic because of the nature of the case or scheduling conflicts, a different trial setting which is set by the court at the pre-trial conference after conferring with counsel. The trial date set must be viewed as a firm setting and should serve notice to counsel to pursue trial preparation and not defer it and then seek a continuance when pressed for trial.

II. TIMELINESS OF MOTIONS TO CONTINUE PURSUANT TO RULE 8.5
All Motions to Continue a trial must be filed in writing with the trial division at least 5 days before the trial date including weekends and holidays. Any Motion to Continue should be resolved by the court in advance of the trial date.

· Commentary: In those cases where a party deems it necessary to move the court to continue a trial, the motion should be filed well in advance of the trial date. It is essential to an effective delay reduction scheme and also from a system-cost analysis standpoint that any Motion to Continue be litigated and resolved before the actual trial date.
III. GROUNDS FOR MOTION
As provided in Rule 8.5(b), any Motion to Continue must establish the existence of extraordinary circumstances and must justify any delay as being indispensable to the interests of justice for the court to grant the motion. In determining whether extraordinary circumstances exist and a delay is indispensable to the interests of justice, although not exclusive, the following factors will be considered by the court.

1. Were the circumstances cited as reasons for the continuance unforeseeable?

2. Were the circumstances due to lack of preparation?

3. Are the reasons relevant?

4. Is any other party prejudiced?

Motions to Continue must set forth grounds with specificity. Motions which contain only conclusory statements such as plea negotiations are ongoing, additional time is needed to prepare for trial or investigate the matter, or that all witnesses have not been interviewed will be denied.

Finally, any Motion to Continue that is filed in an untimely manner under these guidelines will be denied unless the motion sets forth with specificity the reason for filing the motion within 5 days of the trial.

· Commentary: As mentioned in the guidelines, the factors to be considered are not the only factors to be taken into account by the court in deciding whether good cause exists to warrant a continuance. The terms “good cause” or “extraordinary circumstances” as used in Rule 8.5(b) do not lend themselves to precise definition. Whether the circumstances in a case add up to “extraordinary circumstances” is always a question for the sound discretion of each trial judge.

IV. CALENDAR CONFLICTS
Where a Motion to Continue by a party cites as grounds for continuance a lawyer's calendar conflict with another case, the judge to which the Motion is addressed should consult the lawyers and the judge presiding over the conflicting case to ascertain whether, in fact, an actual conflict exists. If there exists a real scheduling conflict between or among a lawyer's cases, the judges assigned to the cases should consult one another and decide the case to be tried taking into consideration the age of the cases, the nature of the charges, the custody status of the defendants and any other relevant factors.

· Commentary: It is imperative in managing his or her trial calendar that the lawyers at the pre-trial conference secure trial settings so as to minimize any scheduling problems.

22

